

FSB Northern Ireland Policy Position Paper:

Regulatory Reform in Northern Ireland

About this Series

In 2015, FSB in Northern Ireland commissioned a series of Policy Position Papers on issues that are of significant concern to our Members.

The purpose of the papers is to set out those concerns, to examine and explore each issue as it affects SMEs, to gather and analyse information and to make recommendations for improvement.

We will use the papers, alongside the other activities in our research and policy development programme, to stimulate debate, raise awareness and, ultimately, advocate for our Members as a campaigning and lobbying organisation which not only communicates concerns but informs the development of practical solutions

These papers are aimed at policy-makers and decision-takers and, as such, we will bring them to the attention of government departments, local councils and councillors, MLAs, MPs and MEPs. We welcome comments and debate, particularly from our Members - our main stakeholders.

As experts in business, we offer our members a wide range of vital business services, including advice, financial expertise, support and a powerful voice in government. Our sole aim is to help smaller businesses achieve their ambitions.

Foreword

In Northern Ireland, smaller businesses employ more people than all large businesses and the entire public sector, *combined*. That makes it essential for the Northern Ireland Executive to prioritise SMEs at the core of its economic programme and, in particular, to use the power of government to remove barriers to business.

Research conducted by the Ulster Business School for FSB indicates that 80% of micro, small and medium sized enterprises intend to grow their business over the next two years, and it also finds that they make a significant contribution to local economic and social well-being, by employing people locally and contributing to charities, sport and youth activities in their areas. That means smaller businesses are vital to Northern Ireland, so we must have the drivers in place to encourage and facilitate these growth ambitions.

FSB's Manifesto for the 2016 NI Assembly Election, *Realising the Potential of Small Businesses*, sets out a range of measures the incoming Executive should adopt to help create the best conditions for business; but support for business does not always need to cost money. One of the most effective ways the Executive could support business is to reduce the regulatory burden; also ensuring that any new regulation is proportionate and that there is accountability, consistency and transparency in the process, and that new regulations are effectively targeted.

At present, no tally is kept of the cost of regulation on business in Northern Ireland and the assessment of its impact is often ignored or else undertaken in a haphazard manner. This is not acceptable. Quite simply, if it is not measured, it cannot be managed, so FSB is calling in this paper for processes to

understand the effect and cost of regulatory burdens, and for actions to contain and reduce them. The rigour of a budget for regulation may lead to less being done, but for it to be done better.

FSB supports the principles of Better Regulation, participating in both the **Better Regulation Task**Force and the **Better Regulation Forum**; but red tape is still a significant issue for micro and small businesses, with our members telling us that it is a major barrier to their development. Reducing bureaucracy and regulation has also been identified by SME owners as the best way for government to help businesses.

Regulations come at a financial and time cost that is borne by business, with each spending an average of 37 hours per month on compliance issues. Despite continued government promises to reduce time and money spent on keeping up to speed on regulation changes, micro, small and medium-sized employers have seen their regulation bills continue to go up.

This report looks at a number of different aspects of the current regulatory process in Northern Ireland, taking account of the whole system including regulatory quality, historical regulations, the overall burden, regressive compliance costs, and the need to mainstream economic concerns. The report makes a total of 14 recommendations which, if adopted, could significantly improve the regulatory system for all small businesses in Northern Ireland, encouraging both economic and community growth.

Wilfred Mitchell OBE FSB Policy Chair, Northern Ireland

Contents

Sum	mary of Recommendations	6
1.	Introduction	8
2.	Review of Business Regulation	9
3.	The Regulatory Budget – The overall burden of regulation	10
	The cost of regulation to small businesses	10
	A Regulatory Budget	10
	Transparency	10
	Priority Setting	11
	Cost Focus	11
	Initial Measure	12
	No exemptions from the Regulatory Budget	12
	Creating a Regulatory Budget trading market	12
	A Pro-Enterprise Panel	12
4.	A Statutory Duty – Mainstreaming business impact	13
	Need for mainstreaming economic interests	13
	Mainstreaming Regulatory Impact: Statutory Duty	13
	Small Business Advocate	13
5 .	Sunset Clauses – Fixing historical regulations	15
	Sunset Clauses	15
6.	The Business Regulation Hub – Small business compliance costs	16
	Business Regulation Hub	16
7.	Improving the Quality of Regulations	18
	Regulatory Impact Assessments	18
	Consultation	18
Refe	erences and Sources	20

Summary of Recommendations

Recommendation 1:

Implement the recommendations of the DETI *Making Life Simpler* report and the **Innovation Lab on Regulatory Impact Assessments**.

Recommendation 2:

Introduce a **Regulatory Budget** for Northern Ireland, published and debated in the same way as the fiscal budget.

Recommendation 3:

Commence the process of Regulatory Budgeting by incrementally offsetting new regulation, with a commitment to develop a full Regulatory Budget within a defined timescale.

Recommendation 4:

Ensure that Regulatory Budget accounting is based only on the costs to business rather than the potential wider benefits of the regulation.

Recommendation 5:

Include European and United Kingdom-wide regulation, including specific policy areas, such as taxation, within Regulatory Budgets and reviews.

Recommendation 6:

Develop a system of **regulation trading**, allowing and encouraging individual departments and their policy makers to trade regulatory budgets with other departments and policy units.

Recommendation 7:

Establish a **Pro-Enterprise Panel** of Business Champions.

Recommendation 8:

Place a **statutory duty** on all public authorities operating in Northern Ireland to take account of the business impact of all of their functions, promoting and protecting the interests of smaller businesses in the exercise of their duties.

Recommendation 9:

Establish a Northern Ireland **Small Business Advocate** to promote and protect the interests of small business at all levels of government.

Recommendation 10:

Include sunset clauses in all new regulations, to expire within a maximum of 5 years, providing the need to review and update regulation by every new Assembly.

Recommendation 11:

Create a single online Business Regulation Hub for all regulators in Northern Ireland.

Recommendation 12:

Make **Regulatory Impact Assessments** compulsory, comprehensive and consistently applied through the new statutory duty.

Recommendation 13:

Introduce a new **Independent Scrutiny Unit** to review Regulatory Impact Assessments and have the authority to refuse to approve them unless there is clear evidence of compliance with all guidance and Codes of Practice developed to ensure the required level of quality and effectiveness.

Recommendation 14:

Commit to publicising new regulations and standards in Plain English and accessible formats, and make them widely available for scrutiny and comment.

1. Introduction

The recent **Costs of Doing Business in Northern Ireland** report by the Department of Enterprise, Trade and Investment (DETI) states that compliance with government regulations comes at a cost that must be borne by business, in terms of both money and time. It refers to research which found that businesses spend an average of 37 hours per month on compliance, equating to more than £3,000 per year for a small business.

The complexity of regulation and lack of adequate publicity means many small business owners are unaware of which regulations apply to them, how to comply, or where to get advice. Getting to grips with this can, in itself, be a hugely time-consuming process and leave businesses unnecessarily vulnerable.

Excessive or overly complex regulation prevents innovation, and creates unnecessary barriers to trade, investment and economic growth. Nearly 40% of Northern Ireland's small businesses view regulation as a barrier to growth, while reducing bureaucracy and regulation was identified by small business owners as the best way for the government to help businesses.

A recent study into the link between regulation and growth in OECD countries concluded that:

- countries and industries where direct and indirect regulatory burdens are lighter have generally experienced the highest GDP per capita and productivity growth rates;
- where regulatory burdens are lighter, the reallocation of resources towards the highest productivity firms is stronger; and
- inappropriate regulations have an adverse impact on productivity performance; therefore, reforming such regulations can provide a significant boost to potential growth.

The World Economic Forum publishes annual **Global Competiveness Reports,** which assess the competitiveness landscape of 144 economies, providing insight into the drivers of their productivity and prosperity. They use over 100 data results and other indicators to arrive at their conclusions. When the **Economic Advisory Group for Northern Ireland** compared the competiveness of the Northern Ireland economy to these countries using the same indicators, it was ranked 42 out of 145. One of the criteria, "burden of government regulation", ranked Northern Ireland as 88 out of 145.

Of course, a sound regulatory framework is essential to maintain a fair and competitive market place which supports business and protects consumers, employees, and the environment. However, imperative here is a need to balance the benefits that regulations are designed to achieve against the costs that compliance with them imposes on businesses and the economy.

2. Review of Business Regulation

As part of the **Economic Pact** in 2013, the Northern Ireland Executive committed to undertake a review of business regulation in Northern Ireland to find ways to reduce the unnecessary burdens currently placed on business.

In November 2014, DETI published a report on the review, *Making Life Simpler: Improving Business Regulation in NI*, which made recommendations for improving Northern Ireland's regulatory regime to make a more effective contribution to its economic competitiveness. The review included an **Innovation Lab on Regulatory Impact Assessments** which also produced a series of recommendations for improving regulation in Northern Ireland.

Recommendation 1:

Implement the recommendations of the DETI Making Life Simpler report and the Innovation Lab on Regulatory Impact Assessments.

3. The Regulatory Budget - The overall burden of regulation

The cost of regulation to small businesses

Regulation and fiscal policy can be used as interchangeable tools of government action, in that government can adopt either a tax-and-spend policy or introduce regulation to achieve many of its policy goals.

For example, increasing the minimum wage is a regulatory measure which transfers money from businesses to low paid workers; effectively it is an alternative to increasing taxes on businesses and using the money raised to increase working tax credits. The result - increasing wages – achieves the same aim. From the point of view of a business, the cost of regulatory compliance is materially indistinguishable from the cost of paying a tax - their profit would be higher without either the tax or regulation.

However, regulation represents a substantially higher cost to businesses than most taxes. In 2010, the Chamber of Commerce estimated Northern Ireland's regulatory burden at $\pounds 2.34$ billion. To set that in context, the 2009-10 Corporation Tax bill for Northern Ireland was $\pounds 411$ million, Value Added Tax was $\pounds 1.96$ billion, and total National Insurance contributions (including employee contributions) were $\pounds 2.02$ billion.

By comparison, between 2001 and 2010 UK-wide Corporation Tax receipts grew by 5%, VAT receipts by 19%, and National Insurance receipts by 58%. Regulatory burdens grew in that period of time by over 750%.

A Regulatory Budget

The only effective way to manage and prioritise the total costs of regulation, and to constrain and assess the overall amount of costs imposed, would be to introduce a system of regulatory budgets.

Regulatory budgeting would involve estimating the likely cost of all proposed regulations, irrespective of their source (EU, Westminster etc), informed by effective Regulatory Impact Assessments (RIAs). To

understand the context, Regulatory Budgets might also establish the costs of removing any existing regulations that are causing concern amongst business.

By raising policy makers' awareness that regulations consume both time and money, and are not a cost-free alternative to taxation or expenditure, regulatory budgets would provide an incentive to use regulatory measures more cost-effectively to achieve their defined aims. Departments would be able to make better-informed decisions about the detail, prioritisation and timing of new policies, including assessing potential conflicts and exploiting synergies.

A regulatory budget would also enable greater control over the total costs of regulation, allowing government to look at the potential impact on the economy in a coherent and evidence based way. It would strengthen the ability to foresee the total impact of new policies. Importantly, if the Executive made a commitment to reduce the overall regulatory burden in Northern Ireland, irrespective of the source of new regulations, it could send a powerful signal to foreign investors that Northern Ireland is an excellent place in which to do business.

Transparency

One of the current difficulties associated with regulation is that there is no complete picture of the total economic impact of government regulation. A regulatory budget would provide everyone with better information to evaluate regulation and in doing so would combat some of the major issues that cause misallocation of regulatory resources.

It would permit informed comparisons across different regulatory areas and allow for the coordination of the costs and benefits of various initiatives. In so doing, it would allow policymakers to consider regulatory costs in the more realistic context of a hierarchy of competing policy interests, rather than as a series of isolated, case by case initiatives, and would better inform political judgments about how much a new regulatory measure is "worth".

Priority Setting

At present, there appears to be little to limit government's regulatory activities, or force government to prioritise among the health, safety, economic, environmental and social goals of regulation. A transparent regulatory budget would help the Executive to set priorities and enhance the economic efficiency of regulation across the entire government.

It would clearly illustrate the impact of decisions and incentivise government as a whole to establish priorities between policy areas, and individual policy makers to choose between initiatives. Additionally, in a period of financial restraint, it would encourage policy makers to try and develop innovative solutions to policy problems.

As the US Congress's Joint Economic Committee noted in 1979,

Even if all regulations were cost effective, the problem of balancing resources for regulatory purposes with resources for other purposes would still exist. This balance could best be accomplished through a regulatory budget.

Cost Focus

The purpose of a regulatory budget, much like the fiscal budget, would be to manage and prioritise government's use and allocation of a finite regulatory resource. To achieve this would need a focus only on the cost side of the regulation, and so the expenditure of businesses should be taken into account as the guiding criterion.

Initial Measures

Before full budgeting could begin, regulators would first have to establish a baseline by monetising the existing inventory of regulation. As this is likely to entail a significant exercise, it may be practical to commence with an incremental budget that covers only the costs of new or modified regulations, which could then be "offset" by modifying or eliminating

existing regulations; however, there must be a commitment to move towards a full regulatory budget in the future.

No exemptions from the Regulatory Budget

Two major areas that affect small businesses have largely been exempt from the UK deregulation strategies: European regulation and tax regulation.

Most business are not aware of the origins of a piece of regulation and, while the majority of policy areas have been transferred to the devolved structures in Northern Ireland, some remain at Westminster and Whitehall, many of which have substantial impacts on business. These include taxation; National Insurance; trade; minimum wage; financial services; and consumer safety.

If exemptions for reviewing EU and UK regulations, or for specific policy areas, remain, there is a major risk that any deregulatory structures put in place will not have the desired impact, resulting in a growing rather than decreasing regulatory burden, especially in areas damaging to small businesses.

Recommendation 2:

Introduce a **Regulatory Budget** for Northern Ireland, published and debated in the same way as the fiscal budget.

Recommendation 3:

Commence the process of Regulatory Budgeting by incrementally offsetting new regulation, with a commitment to develop a full Regulatory Budget within a defined timescale.

Recommendation 4:

Ensure that Regulatory Budget accounting is based only on the costs to business rather than the potential wider benefits of the regulation.

Recommendation 5:

Include European and United Kingdom-wide regulation, including specific policy areas, such as taxation, within Regulatory Budgets and reviews.

Creating a Regulatory Budget trading market

A regulatory budget would have the effect not only of raising awareness and limiting the costs of regulations, but would also ensure that laws are subject to regular, comprehensive consideration and consent by policymakers, who would evaluate whether older regulations are still fit for purpose or of priority concern to government.

Additionally, to inspire a new mindset amongst regulators, the use of a regulatory budget could be extended to create a "market" within government itself, creating the innovations and efficiencies more commonly seen in the private sector. Such markets already exist within the regulatory field, for example in the use of "cap and trade" measures in relation to carbon emissions permits.

Producers who emit less pollutant than allowed by their permits may sell their excess to other producers, although total emissions, and thus the total amount of permits, cannot exceed the cap (which is typically lowered over time to achieve a national or regional emissions reduction target). The less a producer emits, the less they pay, so it is in their economic interest to pollute less. They can also earn money by trading their excess permits.

In a loose parallel, the ability to trade regulatory surplus within or between departments and public authorities would provide incentives to Ministers and civil servants to find savings by reducing current regulations, resisting the need to introduce excessively burdensome regulations, or by trading regulatory surplus for other resources, so that policyand decision-makers could achieve more of their goals.

Recommendation 6:

Develop a system of **regulation trading**, allowing and encouraging individual departments and their policy makers to trade regulatory budgets with other departments and policy units.

A Pro-Enterprise Panel

It should also be noted that Singapore has recently established a **Pro-Enterprise Panel**, which actively encourages feedback on government rules and regulations that hinder businesses and restrict entrepreneurship.

The Panel consists of business champions from the private sector and senior civil servants, and receives suggestions to improve business efficiency, relaying them to the relevant regulatory authorities.

In the context of a regulatory budget process, where policy-makers are actively seeking regulations they can remove, to create space for new ones, the input of such a panel could be very beneficial, both to businesses and to regulators.

Recommendation 7:

Establish a **Pro-Enterprise Panel** of Business Champions.

4. A Statutory Duty

- Mainstreaming business impact

Need for mainstreaming economic interests

While Northern Ireland's economic recovery has begun, it still lags behind the rest of the UK and Ireland. We need to create a business-friendly environment in order to compete with neighbouring economies to the east and south by "mainstreaming" a pro-business mentality into the Northern Ireland public sector. This would include not only limiting the impact of regulation on business, but also looking for ways actively to help businesses and the economy in Northern Ireland. Mainstreaming this approach would promote and incorporate consideration of business impacts into all stages of policy development and could be an innovative, and potentially transformative, approach to policy making.

Mainstreaming Regulatory Impact: Statutory Duty

Effective mainstreaming is evident in the use of Section 75 of the Northern Ireland Act 1998, which has made the promotion of equality and good relations a legal requirement across all of the functions of all public authorities operating in Northern Ireland.

The Section 75 duties replaced the previously voluntary Policy Appraisal and Fair Treatment guidelines, which the Standing Advisory Committee on Human Rights found to be essentially "ineffective". By placing the need to consider the impact of policy decisions and operating methods on equality and good relations on a statutory footing, together with comprehensive guidance on how these considerations should be incorporated into the policy process, awareness of these key issues is now an integral element of the Northern Ireland decision-making process.

The business sector now requires a similar intervention. The use of existing Regulatory Impact Assessment, which is voluntary, does not appear to be systematic nor is the quality consistent. It is particularly important to take account of the impact,

or potential impact, of regulation on small and micro businesses, and so there is a need to see a more widespread consideration of smaller businesses within the Regulatory Impact Assessment process. In assessing cost to business, this should include not only actual expenditure, but also the time required to administer and implement regulations.

Recommendation 8:

Place a **statutory duty** on all public authorities operating in Northern Ireland to take account of the business impact of all of their functions, promoting and protecting the interests of smaller businesses in the exercise of their duties.

Small Business Advocate

A key component of successful mainstreaming is having an appropriate means of overseeing, monitoring and reviewing its process.

Many of the best regulatory systems exist in countries where a dedicated unit contained in the central executive is responsible for monitoring the impact of government activity. Examples include the Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs in the United States, which is located within the Office of Management and Budget, itself an agency within the Executive Office of the President; Australia's Office of Best Practice Regulation, which is based in the Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet; and Denmark's Better Regulation unit in the Ministry of Finance. These allow the main parts of the respective executives to send signals to departments that their regulatory activity is watched closely.

FSB recommends the creation of a **Small Business Advocate** for Northern Ireland - an independent voice at government level with statutory powers to test policy against the interests of small business. The Advocate would link business and government, encouraging a sense of common purpose and inspiring a culture of enterprise in Northern Ireland by acting as a champion for small business, embedding their needs at the heart of policymaking. Most importantly, the Advocate would assist

the Executive in its key aim of delivering private sector growth, with all the benefits of a stable, prosperous society and high quality, sustainable jobs which that entails.

The Advocate could also serve as the **NI Better Regulation Champion** envisioned by the Review of Business Red Tape, as well as providing the monitoring and evaluation function recommended by the Innovation Lab.

Recommendation 9:

Establish a Northern Ireland Small Business Advocate to promote and protect the interests of small business at all levels of government.

5. Sunset Clauses

- Fixing historial regulations

Once in place, the effectiveness or usefulness of regulations is rarely assessed, even if the costs and benefits are estimated with hypothetical assumptions before enactment. As a result, a stock of older regulations builds up without a process for determining which ones should be adjusted, pruned or revoked.

Regulation can often lag behind or slow down the pace of innovation. Whereas innovation moves quickly, and can happen anywhere and at anytime, policy makers are limited by slow procedures and the need to confer stability. In addition, policy makers are often confronted with complex innovations in fields of emerging technologies as well as apparently straightforward innovations that challenge existing regulatory structures (for example Uber taxis) and about which regulators know little. This "disconnect" between the introduction of a new product or service and the review of the applicable rules can delay important innovations.

It is therefore important to adopt a regulatory framework that offers a proper pacing of regulations in line with the innovation process, and which allows room for learning and the revision of regulation as more information becomes available.

Sunset Clauses

Sunset clauses describe a mechanism that terminates a regulation at a predetermined time. They can be applied to entire laws or to certain sections of a law. When the clause expires, the law may be renewed, following a review of the circumstances that led to the introduction of the law, and consideration of evidence of any continued requirement for it.

Used throughout the world, sunset clauses guarantee continual oversight of legislation, allowing for the updating or removal of obsolete, unnecessary or ineffective laws, adaptation to changing social or technological circumstances, and adjustments to evolving attitudes, perceptions, and judgments towards behaviour. They allow for the expiry of unnecessary laws that are no longer fit for purpose, thus helping to avoid over-regulating a

sector or placing unnecessary burdens on industry.

Sunset clauses can therefore be used as a means to improve the effectiveness of public administration and regulation, by ensuring that policy makers continue to reassess the underlying problems and evaluate regulations after their implementation.

Recommendation 10:

All new regulations should hold **sunset clauses** to expire within a maximum of 5 years, providing the need to review and update regulation by every new Assembly.

6. The Business Regulation Hub – Small Business compliance costs

Many of the recommendations in this paper would, if implemented, have a significant impact on the costs of regulatory compliance for small businesses. By bringing hidden costs out in the open, policy makers would have a better understanding of the impact they are having when they regulate business. Additionally, a better overview of the totality of regulation, and limits on the amount of regulation that government can implement, would help to reduce the negative impact on economic growth. The impact of compliance costs on small and medium sized businesses must also be taken into account.

It has been common to focus on the impact of regulation on large firms and inward investors. However, it is also important to consider how regulation affects small and micro-enterprises, especially in Northern Ireland because of the importance of SMEs to the economy where their contribution, in terms of employment and turnover, is significantly higher than in the rest of the UK, due to a relative lack of large, high turnover companies. Small businesses usually have far fewer resources to help them comply with rules and regulations than large companies and, as a result, compliance is relatively more expensive, and therefore inhibits growth.

A study in the United States showed that the regulatory burden faced by small businesses was 36% higher than that faced by large businesses. Another study in the Netherlands found that small businesses incur almost 70% of the total administrative burdens, compared to 16% for larger businesses.

Almost two-thirds of small businesses (61%) believe that it is difficult to keep up to date with employment law, while regulations on data protection and on health and safety are cited as particularly burdensome. Regulations in these policy areas often emanate from the European Union. Additionally small businesses consider compliance with tax rules their heaviest regulatory burden, more than other areas of regulation. Tax rules have been modified so many times that SMEs often have no other option than to pay for professional advice, to the extent that small businesses in the UK spend an average of

£3,600 a year on tax returns alone. These areas of policy are exempt from Westminster's One-in-Two-out policy, but a dynamic, pro-business approach in Stormont could help offset the burden by deregulating in other areas to compensate.

Small businesses have many specific challenges that are not necessarily faced by larger firms. Many small businesses, especially the micros that are common to Northern Ireland, are managed solely by the owner of the business. They do not have human resources managers or in-house legal advisors, or the specialist and comprehensive knowledge required to adapt to complex new regulations. This puts small businesses at a significant competitive disadvantage when it comes to adapting to new measures in their operating environments. There are a number of changes that could be made to improve this.

Business Regulation Hub

As part of the Review of Business Red Tape, DETI commissioned a research project to explore the possibility of introducing a Business Regulation Hub in Northern Ireland. The research found that the current online provision of services by regulators varies greatly with, for example, only 63% of regulators offering downloadable forms, the most basic of online services. Business representatives attending the Innovation Lab on Business Regulation supported the development of an information-based signposting hub; in the simplest terms, it might echo the way in which all regulatory compliance requirements for vehicles have moved online, so inspectors can check the road tax, insurance and MOT status of a vehicle to ensure compliance without having to stop the vehicle and take up the driver's time.

A **Business Regulation Hub** should be an online platform that would include:

 A core database that catalogues all local, regional, national and European regulations that may apply to businesses operating in Northern Ireland, including relevant guidance notes accompanying regulations;

- A classification system allowing businesses to register, create an account, and generate a core profile;
- An interrogation process which delivers a tailored and filtered list of regulatory requirements and their accompanying guidance notes;
- A self-assessment tool whereby individual businesses can determine the required level of compliance with relevant regulations;
- A support function to provide assistance in areas of non-compliance;
- Assessments catalogued over time to provide a historical record of businesses' regulatory competence, including details of any incidences of non-compliance recorded/ catalogued by a regulatory body; and
- Accessibility of information by regulators to facilitate assessment of business regulatory performance to aid risk-based management planning.

Key benefits would be:

- Reduction in the amount of time businesses have to spend checking legislation for relevance, and then understanding the legal requirements and how they apply to their activities;
- Reduction in duplication of information;
- Reduction in costs of compliance for businesses; and
- Improved efficiency of local authorities and other inspectors by targeting regulatory and inspection activity to high-risk areas, enabling more effective use of resources and less disruption to businesses.

Recommendation 11:

Create a single online **Business Regulation Hub** for all regulators in Northern Ireland.

7. Improving the Quality of Regulations

Regulation has an essential purpose in maintaining a fair and competitive market place which supports business and protects society and the environment. However, it also carries a cost to business to work towards and demonstrate compliance with the requirements it imposes. Well-drafted regulation can help foster economic growth by removing potential barriers; making it easier for businesses to adhere to the standards that are expected of them and limiting any negative impact on growth.

However, where regulation is poorly drafted and enforced, businesses have to spend more time and resources complying with it, which imposes a high cost on economic growth. This can result in a situation where the regulation simply fails to achieve the legitimate goals it set out to achieve.

Ensuring that all regulation is well made has become a major goal for most governments around the world. Many have created programmes aimed at "better" or "smart" regulation, such as the UK's Better Regulation programme in the 2000s, and the EU's **Smarter Regulation programme**.

In 2003, the **UK Better Regulation Task Force** identified the following principles of good regulation:

- Proportionality
- Accountability
- Consistency
- Transparency
- Targeting

Since then, the improvement of regulatory quality has tended to come from the improvement of the tools used to achieve it, such as the quality of Regulatory Impact Assessments, the quality of consultations, and greater transparency.

Regulatory Impact Assessments

The major rationale behind Regulatory Impact Assessments (RIAs) is the need to assess regulations on a case-by-case basis to see how and whether they contribute to their strategic policy goals. They are a tool used to inform decisions through rational policy analysis, empirical evidence and ambitious, integrated forms of appraisals.

At the moment, where RIAs are undertaken, the quality is mixed, and the potential impact of regulation is therefore not always well understood. If the RIA process itself were to be placed on a statutory footing and better administered with the use of clear guidance, consultation requirements, and approval and review measures, its effectiveness in both interrogating the quality of the legislation and in regard to the likely success of the goal of the regulation would be greatly enhanced.

As set out in relation to the proposal, above, to mainstream business and economic impact through the introduction of a statutory duty, it would be sensible to examine the tools employed to ensure the effective operation and outcome of the Section 75 duties, such as the adoption of Schemes, screening, consultation guidance etc.

Recommendation 12:

Make **Regulatory Impact Assessments** compulsory, comprehensive and consistently applied through the new statutory duty.

Independent Scrutiny of Regulatory Impact Assessments

Mechanisms of accountability and the evaluation of the results achieved by impact assessments are essential to the quality of the RIA process. Many organisations, such as the World Bank, the International Monetary Fund and the OECD, as well as many other pressure groups, hold accountability and transparency as prominent features of good governance. Currently in Northern Ireland there is little to no actual verification of regulatory impact and, without an effective mechanism, the process lacks credibility.

One of the major recommendations of the Innovation Lab on Regulatory Impact Assessments was the establishment of an Independent Scrutiny Unit to ensure a high level of quality in the assessments presented, to make sure that the

estimated cost imposition on business has been validated, and that proper justification has been given if the final policy decision does not present the best overall net value.

Recommendation 13:

Introduce a new **Independent Scrutiny Unit** to review Regulatory Impact Assessments which has the authority to refuse to approve them unless there is clear evidence of compliance with all guidance and Codes of Practice developed to ensure the required level of quality and effectiveness.

Consultation

The purpose of consultation in impact assessment is to collect empirical evidence on costs and benefits, and to determine impacts on those affected by the proposed policy, particularly those impacts on businesses which may not initially be apparent to the policy-makers.

In order to ensure high-quality regulation and advance an open, transparent and democratic decision-making process, it is important that those affected by proposed new regulations are consulted at the earliest possible stage of the regulatory process; that consultation periods are reasonable and appropriate; and that the impact assessment is written in Plain English –with alternative languages and formats as required.

Some consulted parties, especially representative organisations such as FSB, need to obtain views from stakeholders, so deadlines for consultation must be sufficient for them to engage with their membership base to ensure adequate participation and a fully informed and representative response.

Recommendation 14:

Commit to regulators to publicising new regulations and standards in Plain English and accessible formats, and make them widely available for scrutiny and comment.

References and Sources

Ang, James S, (1991), "Small business uniqueness and the theory of financial management", *The Journal of Entrepreneurial Finance*

Arnold, Jens Matthias, Giuseppe Nicoletti, and Stefano Scarpetta, (2011), "Regulation, Resource Reallocation and Productivity Growth", *Nordic Economic Policy Review*

Baldwin, Robert, (2005), "Is Better Regulation Smarter Regulation?", Public Law,

Better Regulation Task Force, (2003), *Principles of Good Regulation* (London: Better Regulation Task Force)

Beveridge, Fiona, Sue Nott, & Kylie Stephen, (2000), "Mainstreaming and the engendering of policy-making: a means to an end?", Journal of European Public Policy

Boog, J. J., Milan Jansen, & M. J. F. Tom, (2002) *Monitor administratieve lasten bedrijven* [Monitor administrative burden on businesses] (OEIM, Onderzoek voor Bedrijf & Beleid)

British Chamber of Commerce, (2010), The Burdens Barometer 2010

Crain, Nicole V., & W. Mark Crain, (2010), "The Impact of Regulatory Costs on Small Firms", Small Business Administration Office of Advocacy, available at: https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/The%20Impact%20of%20Regulatory%20Costs%20on%20Small%20Firms%20(Full).pdf

Davis, Lewis Anthony, (1981), "Review Procedures and Public Accountability in Sunset Legislation: An Analysis and Proposal for Reform", *Administrative Law Review*

De Francesco, Fabrizio, Radaelli, Claudio and Troeger, Vera, (2011), "Implementing regulatory innovations in Europe: the case of impact assessment", *Journal of European Public Policy*

DeMuth, Christopher C, (1980), "The Regulatory Budget", Regulation 4

Department of Enterprise, Trade and Investment, (2015), *The Cost of Doing Business in Northern Ireland* (Belfast: DETI Analytical Services Unit)

Easterbrook, Hon. Frank H., William N. Eskridge Jr., Philip K. Howard, Thomas W. Merrill, and Hon. Jeffrey S. Sutton, (2007), "Showcase Panel IV: A Federal Sunset Law", The Federalist Society 2011 National Lawyers Convention, *Connecticut Law Review*

Economic Advisory Group, (2013), "Competitiveness Index for Northern Ireland", *Economic Advisory Group*, available at: http://eagni.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Competitiveness- Index-for- Northern- Ireland-2013.pdf

EDF, (2015), How cap and trade works (Environmental Defense Fund)

European Commission (2009), "Third Strategic Review of Better Regulation in the European Union", Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, (Brussels: European Commission), (January 2009)

Finn, John E., (2009), "Sunset clauses and democratic deliberation: assessing the significance of sunset provisions in antiterrorism legislation" *Columbia Journal of Transnational Law*

FSB, (2015), "Small firms will struggle with new quarterly tax returns, says FSB", (FSB), available at: http://www.fsb.org.uk/media-centre/press-releases/small-firms-will-struggle-with-new-quarterly-tax-returns-says-fsb

FSB, (2015), Realising the Potential of Small Businesses - FSB Manifesto: Northern Ireland Assembly Election 2016 (Belfast: Federation of Small Businesses)

HM Government, BERR, Regulatory Budgets: A Consultation Document, 2008

HM Revenue and Customs, (2015), "A disaggregation of HMRC tax receipts between England, Wales, Scotland & Northern Ireland", Methodology Note, available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/464199/HMR C_disaggregated_receipts_-_Methodology_Note.pdf

IREP, (2009), Independent Review of Economic Policy, DETI and Invest NI

Kelman, Mark, (1999), Strategy or principle?: The choice between regulation and taxation (Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press)

Kirkpatrick, Colin, Parker, David and Zhang, Yin-Fang, (2004), "Regulatory Impact Assessment in Developing and Transitioning Economies: A Survey of Current Practice", Centre on Regulation and Competition Working Papers, No. 83, (June 2004)

Kuzma, Jennifer, (2013), "Properly paced? Examining the past and present governance of GMOs in the United States", in Gary E. Marchant, Kenneth W. Abbot, and Braden Allenby, (eds), *Innovative Governance Models for Emerging Technologies* (Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing)

Lapsley, Irvine and Kilpatrick, Kenneth, (1997), A Question of Trust: Regulators and the Regulatory Regime for Privatised Utilities (Edinburgh: Institute of Chartered Accountants)

Litan, Robert E., & William D. Nordhaus, (1983), *Reforming federal regulation* (New Haven: Yale University Press)

Lodge, Martin, (2004), "Accountability and transparency in regulation: critiques, doctrines and instruments" in: Jacint Jordana & David Levi-Faur, (eds), *The Politics of Regulation: Institutions and Regulatory Reforms for the Age of Governance* (Cheltenham: Edward Elgar)

Löfstedt, Ragnar, (2007), "The 'Plateau-ing' of the European Better Regulation Agenda: an Analysis of Activities carried out by the Barroso Commission", *Journal of Risk Research*, vol. 10, no. 4

Mackay, Fiona, and Kate Bilton, (2000), "Learning from experience: lessons in mainstreaming equal opportunities", *Governance of Scotland Forum* (Edinburgh: University of Edinburgh)

Malyshev, Nick, (2010), "A Primer on Regulatory Budgets." OECD Journal on Budgeting

Mandelkern Group on Better Regulation, (2001), Final Report

McCrudden, Christopher ,(2001), "Equality", *bbc.co.uk*, available at: http://www.bbc.co.uk/ northernireland/schools/agreement/equality/support/er1_c041.shtml

Myers, Richard, (2008), "Responding to the Time-Based Failures of the Criminal Law Through a Criminal Sunset Amendment", Boston College Law Review

National Audit Office, (2011), Delivery Regulatory Reform (London: The Stationery Office)

Nijsen, Andreas F.M, (2003), Dansen met de octopus: Een bestuurskundige visie op informatieverplichtingen van het bedrijfsleven in de sociale rechtsstaat [Dancing with the Octopus: A Public Administrative Vision at the Information Requirements of the Private Sector in a Social State] (Delft: Eburon)

Northern Ireland Review of Business Red Tape, (2014), *Making Life Simpler: Improving Business Regulation in NI* (Belfast: Department of Enterprise, Trade and Investment)

OECD, (1995), Recommendation of the Council of the OECD on improving the quality of government regulation, available at: http://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdispla ydocumentp df/?doclanguage=en&cote=O CDE/GD(95)95

Osborne, Robert, Anthony Gallagher & Robert Cormack, with Sally Shortall, (1996), "The implementation of the policy appraisal and fair treatment guidelines in Northern Ireland", in Eithne McLaughlin and Padraic Quirk, (eds), *Policy Aspects of Employment Equality in Northern Ireland* (Belfast: Standing Advisory Commission on Human Rights)

Parker, David, (2002), "Economic Regulation: A review of issues", *Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics*

Radaelli, Claudio, (2002), "The Politics of Regulatory Impact Analysis in the OECD Countries: Best Practice and Lesson-drawing", Paper delivered to the workshop on Regulatory Impact Analysis in Comparative Perspective

Radaelli, Claudio, (2004b), "The diffusion of regulatory impact analysis – Best practice or lesson-drawing?", European Journal of Political Research

Radaelli, Claudio, (2007), "Whither Better Regulation for the Lisbon Agenda?", *Journal of European Public*

Radaelli, Claudio, (2010), "Regulating Rule-Making via Impact Assessment", Governance: An International Journal of Policy, Administration, and Institutions, vol. 23, no. 1, (January 2010)

Ranchordas, Sofia, (2014), "Innovation-Friendly Regulation: The Sunset of Regulation, the Sunrise of Innovation", Jurimetrics

Ranchordas, Sofia, (2015), "Sunset Clauses and Experimental Regulations: Blessing or Curse for Legal Certainty?", Statute Law Review

Rees, Teresa, (1998), Mainstreaming Equality in the European Union (London: Routledge)

Report of the Working Group on Better Regulation, (2001), White Paper on European Governance, Work Area

Rosen, Jeffery A., & Brian Callanan, (2014), "The Regulatory Budget Revisited",

Administrative Law Review

RSM McClure Watters, (2014), Research into Potential NI Business Regulation Hub Final Report (Belfast: Department of Enterprise, Trade and Investment)

Sohoni, Mila, (2012), "The Idea of 'Too Much Law'" Fordham Law Review, vol. 80

Sunstein, Cass R., (1992), "Public Choice, Endogenous Preferences", *International Review of Law and Economics*

U.S. Congress, Joint Economic Committee, (1979), Report on the 1979 Economic Report of the President

Ulster University SME Centre & the Federation of Small Businesses, (2015), *The contribution of Small Businesses to Northern Ireland* (Belfast: Ulster University Business School)

Varney, David, (2008), Review of the Competitiveness of Northern Ireland (London: HM Treasury)

Wiener, Jonathan, (2007), "Better Regulation in Europe," Current Legal Problems

Woodward, Alison E., (2001), "Gender mainstreaming in European policy: innovation or deception?", *Discussion Paper* (Berlin: WZB Research Unit Organization and Employment)

Woodward, Alison, & Petra Meier, (1998), "Gender impact assessment: a new approach to changing policies and contents of citizenship" in Virginia Ferreira & Teresa Tavares, (eds), Shifting bonds, shifting bounds: women, mobility and citizenship in Europe (Oeiras: Celta Editora)

World Economic Forum, (2012), The Global Competitiveness Report 2012–2013, (Geneva: World Economic Forum)

Produced by FSB Northern Ireland Press and Parliamentary Office Cathedral Chambers 143 Royal Avenue Belfast BT1 1FH

Telephone: 028 9032 6035

Email: info.nireland@fsb.org.uk Website: http://www.fsb.org.uk/NI

Printed April 2016